RECEIVED

May 02 2022

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE SOUTH CAROLINA
WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION

Appellate Case No. 2022-000090

Randall Dalton, Employee,..... Appellant,

v.

The Muffin Mam, Employer,
and Amerisure Mutual Insurance Company, Inc., Carrier,..... Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Logan Rollins, S.C. Bar # 78395
Carolyn Atkins, S.C. Bar # 102884
HAWKLAW, PA
P.O. Box 5048
Spartanburg, SC 29304
Telephone: 864-574-8801
Logan.Rollins@hawklawfirm.com
Carolyn.Atkins@hawklawfirm.com

Attorneys for Appellant

ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. DID THE APPELLATE PANEL ERR AS A MATTER OF LAW IN NOT HOLDING THAT A WORKERS' COMPENSATION CLAIMANT CAN BE PERMANENTLY AND TOTALLY DISABLED IN SPITE OF NOMINAL EMPLOYMENT—I.E., IN FAILING TO ACKNOWLEDGE THAT SOUTH CAROLINA LAW RECOGNIZES THE DOCTRINE OF "SHELTERED WORK" OR "SHELTERED EMPLOYMENT?"
2. DID THE APPELLATE PANEL ERR IN NOT HOLDING THAT APPELLANT IS PERMANENTLY AND TOTALLY DISABLED PURSUANT TO S.C. CODE ANN. § 42-9-10 DESPITE THE RECORD CONTAINING NO EVIDENCE THAT HE COULD COMPETE FOR WAGES IN THE MARKETPLACE ?
3. DID THE APPELLATE PANEL ERR BY NOT CONSIDERING THE CONCLUSIONS OF THE ONLY, UNCONTRADICTED VOCATIONAL EVALUATION IN THE RECORD THAT UNEQUIVOCALLY FOUND THAT APPELLANT WAS INCAPABLE OF EMPLOYMENT AT ANY POSITION OTHER THAN HIS SHELTERED WORK WITH RESPONDENT?
4. DID THE APPELLATE PANEL ERR IN ITS DETERMINATION THAT APPELLANT DID NOT MEET HIS BURDEN TO ESTABLISH THAT HE IS PERMANENTLY AND TOTALLY DISABLED PURSUANT TO S.C. CODE ANN. § 42-9-30 (21) FOR LOSS OF USE TO THE BACK THAT EXCEEDS FIFTY PERCENT?
5. DID THE APPELLATE PANEL ERR IN DETERMINING THAT APPELLANT SUSTAINED ONLY TWENTY-FIVE PERCENT DISABILITY TO HIS RIGHT SHOULDER AND ONLY TWNETY-FIVE PERCENT DISABILITY TO HIS BACK WHEN SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE DOES NOT SUPPORT FINDINGS OF SUCH MINIMAL SCHEDULED MEMBER DISABILITY?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case presents the opportunity for this Court to confirm that South Carolina workers' compensation law recognizes that a person can be technically employed but still be totally and permanently disabled—the doctrine sometimes referred to as “sheltered employment,” “sheltered work,” or “made work.” Procedurally, this case is an appeal by Randall G. Dalton (“Appellant”) from the Appellate Panel’s finding that Appellant was not permanently and totally disabled under the South Carolina Workers’ Compensation Act.

Appellant sustained an admitted work injury to his spine and right shoulder on June 26, 2017, in the course and scope of his employment with the Muffin Mam (“Respondent Employer”). The case was originally heard by Single Commissioner Avery B. Wilkerson, Jr. in Greenville, South Carolina on April 13, 2021. The Single Commissioner issued an order on June 30, 2021 and found Appellant sustained permanent partial disability of 15% to his spine and 15% to his right shoulder. The Single Commissioner found Appellant was making more money at the time of the hearing than he was at the time of his injury; therefore, he was not permanently and totally disabled.

Thereafter, Appellant filed a Form 30 request for review with the Appellate Panel. The Appellate Panel held a review on November 23, 2021 and issued a Decision and Order on January 7, 2022. The Order increased Appellant’s permanent partial disability ratings from 15% to the spine to 25% to the spine and from 15% to the right shoulder to 25% to the right shoulder and concluded that Appellant was not totally and permanently disabled because he was still working for the same employer and had been promoted to a salaried, supervisory position in which he made more money than he was making on the date of his injury. The Appellate Panel did not make

findings correlating Appellant's work capacity to his entitlement to disability benefits and instead relied solely upon the receipt of wages as the basis for finding he was not permanently and totally disabled. Appellant filed his Notice of Appeal to this Court on January 26, 2022.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Administrative Procedures Act (APA) establishes the standard of review for Commission Decisions. *Lark v. Bi-Lo, Inc.*, 276 S.C. 130, 135 276 S.E.2d 304, 306 (1981). “An appellate court has the power upon review to reverse or modify a decision of an administrative agency if the findings and conclusions of the agency are (1) affected by an error of law, (2) clearly erroneous in view of the reliable and substantial evidence on the whole record, or (3) arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion or a clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion.” S.C. Code Ann. § 14-3-330 vests the Supreme Court of South Carolina with “appellate jurisdiction for correction of errors of law in law cases [. . .], and the Supreme Court has held an appellate court may decide novel questions of law with “no particular deference to the lower court.” *Madison ex rel. Bryant v. Babcock Ctr., Inc.*, 371 S.C. 123, 134, 638 S.E.2d 650, 656 (2006); *Clark v. Cantrell*, 339 S.C. 369, 378, 529 S.E.2d 528, 533 (2000). S.C. Code Ann. §14–8–200(a) provides the Court of Appeals “shall apply the same scope of review that the Supreme Court would apply in a similar case.”

With regard to the meaning of a statute, “[s]tatutory interpretation is a question of law subject to de novo review.” *Transportation Ins. Co. and Flagstar Corp. v. South Carolina Second Injury Fund*, 389 S.C. 422 427, 699 S.E. 2d 687, 689 (2010). The Commission’s factual findings must be based on substantial evidence, and “[s]ubstantial evidence is not a mere scintilla of evidence nor evidence viewed from one side, but such evidence, when the whole record is considered, as would allow reasonable minds to reach the conclusion the Full Commission reached.” *Shealy v. Aiken Cty.*, 341 S.C. 448, 455, 535 S.E.2d 438, 442 (2000) (citations omitted).

ARGUMENT

I. SOUTH CAROLINA LAW RECOGNIZES THAT A WORKER CAN BE NOMINALLY EMPLOYED BUT STILL BE PERMANENTLY AND TOTALLY DISABLED (I.E., SHELTERED EMPLOYMENT), AND THE ANALYSIS OF PERMANENT AND TOTAL DISABILITY UNDER SOUTH CAROLINA LAW CENTERS ON THE CAPACITY TO COMPETE IN THE MARKETPLACE FOR WAGES

A. “Disability” is a multifarious term under South Carolina workers’ compensation law, and its meaning must be derived from its context

“Disability” under the South Carolina Workers’ Compensation Act can signify either temporary disability or permanent disability. Temporary disability begins on the eighth day a claimant “has been out of work due to a reported work-related injury.” S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-260 (2007). Temporary disability ends upon a finding of maximum medical improvement (“MMI”). *See, e.g., Curiel v. Envtl. Mgmt. Servs.*, 376 S.C. 23, 29, 655 S.E.2d 482, 485 (2007) (“[T]emporary total disability benefits are available from the date of injury through the date of maximum medical improvement [. . .]”). After a finding of maximum medical improvement, South Carolina Workers’ Compensation law provides for permanent disability compensation under two distinct “disability” models—the economic model and the medical model.

The first, the “economic model,” is the model statutorily found at S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-10 (2007) and S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-20 (2007). The “economic model [. . .] defines disability and incapacity in terms of the claimant’s loss of earning capacity as a result of the injury.” *Wigfall v. Tideland Utilities, Inc.*, 354 S.C. 100, 104, 580 S.E. 2d 100, 102 (2003). A prerequisite to the application of the “economic model” of disability is that the claimant must have sustained injuries that extend beyond a single scheduled member (i.e., arm, leg, etc.). *See, e.g., Singleton v. Young*

Lumbar Co., 236 S.C. 454, 471, 114 S.E. 2d 837, 845 (1960) (holding “[w]here the injury is confined to the scheduled member, and there is no impairment of any other part of the body because of such injury, the employee is limited to the scheduled compensation, even though other considerations such as age, lack of training, or other conditions peculiar to the individual, effect a total or partial industrial incapacity.”). The second model is found at S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-30 (2007). This “medical model” [. . .] provides awards for disability based upon degrees of medical impairment to specific body parts.” *Id.*

In its broadest definition, found at S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-120 (2007), “disability means *incapacity* because of an injury to earn the wages which the employee was receiving at the time of injury in the same or any other employment.” (emphasis added). Significantly, this statutory definition of disability encompasses both temporary disability and permanent disability (i.e., both its “economic” and “medical” models). The temporary disability focus rests upon “the same [. . .] employment” component of the definition, as the claimant’s employer can either accommodate his temporary work restrictions or initiate temporary disability payments pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-260. A claimant is not required to search for “other employment” when he is *temporarily* and totally disabled despite the statutory definition’s inclusion of the “other employment” phrase. *See e.g., Lee v. Bondex, Inc.*, 406 S.C. 97, 103-04, 749 S.E. 2d 155, 157-58 (Ct. App. 2013). (“For temporary disability benefits, a claimant must prove only that work restrictions prevent him from performing the job he had before the injury, and that his current employer has not offered him light-duty employment [. . .]. [H]e is not required to prove he could not find employment with another employer in order to receive temporary disability benefits.”).

The focus of the disability analysis for permanent benefits, however, is upon “any other employment.” This broad, statutory definition for disability has been identical since at least 1952.¹ In analyzing the identical provision in 1954, the Supreme Court of South Carolina explained, in the context of a *permanent* disability analysis, that “disability is to be measured by the employee’s *capacity or incapacity* to earn the wages which he was receiving at the time of his injury. *Loss of earning capacity* is the criterion.” *Keeter v. Clifton Mfg. Co. et al.*, 225 S.C. 389, 392, 82 S.E. 2d 520, 522 (1954) (emphasis added). The ability to earn wages “in the same or any other employment” has never allowed the permanent disability analysis to stop with the actual fact of ongoing receipt of wages from the employer in whose workplace a claimant was injured. Instead, by longstanding precedent, “[d]isability is a relative term and must be related to the occupation of the claimant.” *Colvin v. E. I. Du Pont De Nemours Co.*, 227 S.C. 465, 474, 88 S.E. 2d 581, 585 (1955). That is, “same employment” does not signify “same employer” but, instead, signifies the analysis of determining whether the employee’s physical limitations will remove his capacity to earn wages in any *occupation* for which he is suited.

In *Wynn v. Peoples Natural Gas Co. of S.C.*, 238 S.C. 1, 118 S.E. 2d 812 (1961) the Supreme Court of South Carolina elaborated on the analysis that was required:

Total disability does not require complete helplessness. Inability to perform common labor is total disability for one who is not qualified by training or experience for any other employment. On the other hand, the rule in most states is that an employee who is capable of performing other work that is continuously available to him will not be deemed totally disabled because he is unable to resume the duties of the particular occupation in which he was engaged at the time of his injury. The generally accepted test of total disability is inability to perform services other than those that are so limited in quality, dependability, or quantity that a reasonably stable market for them does not exist.

¹ See S.C. Code Ann. § 72-10 (1952), for example.

Id. at 11, 118 S.E. 2d at 817-18 (internal citations and quotations omitted). Therefore, the test for total disability under S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-10 is not to calculate the amount of the check being given to the injured worker by his employer but to look at the “capacity” the injured worker has to “earn” wages after the injury. Many states have formally acknowledged that employment is “sheltered” employment” or “sheltered work” when the claimant receives payments from his employer but lacks the capacity to compete for similar work in the marketplace. One state that has formally acknowledged the doctrine is North Carolina.

B. Permanent and total disability historically and statutorily requires an analysis of a claimant’s ability to compete for wages irrespective of his ongoing receipt of pay from his employer

1. North Carolina workers’ compensation law, upon which South Carolina’s workers’ compensation law is based, explicitly recognizes sheltered employment doctrine

As South Carolina courts have articulated repeatedly, “[b]ecause South Carolina adopted large portions of the North Carolina Workers’ Compensation legislation, we rely on North Carolina precedent in Workers’ Compensation cases. *Spoone v. Newsome Chevrolet-Buick*, 309 S.C. 432, 434, 424 S.E.2d 489, 490 (1992). North Carolina law expressly recognizes “sheltered employment.” In *Peoples v. Cone Mills Corp.*, the North Carolina Supreme Court ruled, “[a]n injured employee’s earning capacity must be measured not by the largesse of a particular employer, but rather by the employee’s own ability to compete in the labor market. If post-injury earnings do not reflect this ability to compete with others for wages, they are not a proper measure of earning capacity.” *Peoples v. Cone Mills Corp.*, 316 N.C. 426, 437, 342 S.E.2d 798, 805-806 (N.C. 1986). Larson defines the doctrine as follows:

Wages paid an injured employee out of sympathy, or in consideration of his long service with the employer, clearly do not reflect his actual earning capacity, and for purposes of determining permanent disability are to be discounted accordingly. The same is true if the injured man's friends help him to hold his job by doing much of his work for him, ***or if he manages to continue only by delegating his more onerous tasks to a helper***, or if the work for which claimant is paid is 'made work' or 'sheltered work.'

A. Larson, The Law of Workmen's Compensation §§ 57.21, 57.34 (1983) (emphasis added) (footnotes omitted). Therefore, the hallmark of the "sheltered work" or "make work" doctrine is that disability must be analyzed without reference to income but instead must be based on the claimant's ability to compete in the marketplace for consistently available jobs he can perform despite his injury-related work restrictions.

2. South Carolina's statutory "economic disability" model requires the Same analysis of disability as that required by North Carolina's sheltered work rule

The South Carolina definition of total disability based on the "economic" model from S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-10 already parallels the sheltered work paradigm. Total economic disability exists under S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-10 when the services that a claimant can offer are "so limited in quality, dependability, or quantity that a ***reasonably stable market*** for them does not exist." *Wynn v. Peoples Natural Gas Company*, 238 S.C. 1, 118 S.E. 2d 812 (1961) (emphasis added).

Accordingly, South Carolina law recognizes the same policy rationale as North Carolina's sheltered work rule, which has been articulated by North Carolina as follows:

The rationale behind the competitive measure of earning capacity is apparent. If an employee has no ability to earn wages competitively, the employee will be left with no income should the employee's job be terminated. Termination of the employee would not necessarily signal a bad motive on the part of the employer. An employer facing a business decline reasonably could determine that continued retention of the employee was not feasible. The employee also could be dismissed for misconduct. The employer could, for reasons beyond its control, simply cease doing business.

Peoples, 316 N.C. at 438, 342 S.E.2d at 806. Therefore, even if South Carolina has never expressly stated that sheltered work doctrine exists under the Workers' Compensation Act, the proper analysis of what constitutes disability under South Carolina law has long been based on determining the "capacity" of a claimant to compete in the marketplace for wages without reference to actual pay he or she is receiving from a specific employer in specific circumstances. As the Supreme Court of South Carolina succinctly stated in *Stephenson v. Rice Svcs., Inc.*, 323 S.C. 113, 119, 473 S.E. 2d 699, 702 (1996), "***the mere fact of employment is not always indicative of earning capacity.***" (emphasis added). Thus, regardless of the name attributed to it, South Carolina law has long recognized that the calculation of wages being provided to a claimant is not the measure of permanent and total disability under the "economic model" found in South Carolina Workers' Compensation Law. In failing to accurately apply the analysis of the economic model of permanent and total disability, the Appellate Panel committed an error of law.

II. APPELLANT IS PERMANENTLY AND TOTALLY DISABLED DESPITE HIS NOMINAL EMPLOYMENT AT THE TIME OF HIS SINGLE COMMISSIONER HEARING

A. The first step in a disability analysis is determining what causally related work restrictions a claimant has, and the substantial evidence in the record demonstrates Appellant can lift only ten pounds above his waist and only twenty pounds at any level

Under any analysis, the first element of evaluating a claimant's vocational ability is to determine what injury-related limitations the worker has. The Appellate Panel is required to look at what "tasks" or "services" the employee is capable of performing despite his or her injury-related impairments. *See Stephenson*, 323 S.C. at 118, 473 S.E. 2d at 702.

According to Appellant's authorized treating physician for his back injury, Dr. James Behr, Appellant's permanent work restriction for his back is "no lifting over 30 pounds." This restriction was provided on November 20, 2018. (R. p. 180). Dr. Hoenig, Appellant's treating physician for the shoulder injury, limited him to not lifting more than 10 pounds overhead. He provided this restriction on June 26, 2018. (R. p. 164). On October 10, 2020 (after Dr. Hoenig's placement of restrictions) Appellant's family physician, Dr. James Fuson, after writing Appellant out of work for his back injury, allowed him to return to work but only with the "caveat to do no lifting greater than 10 lbs." (R. p. 198).

The Appellate Panel's Order tacitly determined that Appellant's physical restrictions substantially exceeded those imposed by his physicians. The Appellate Panel found, "Claimant exerted full effort during his [Function Capacity Evaluation], and the restrictions recommended in the FCE [. . .] are a reliable and accurate representation of Claimant's permanent restrictions." (R. p. 20, ¶ 6). In an FCE performed December 16, 2020, Appellant's maximum lifting from waist to shoulder level was ten pounds, and his maximum lifting above shoulder level was only seven pounds. (R. p. 209). Every piece of evidence in the record demonstrates that Appellant could not lift more than ten pounds overhead, and, although Dr. Behr opined that Appellant was capable of lifting as much as thirty pounds below shoulder level, Appellant's family physician limited Appellant's lifting to only ten pounds at all. The valid FCE notes that Appellant could lift a maximum of *twenty pounds* from floor level and was "unable to lift" when he attempted twenty-five pounds. (R. p. 214). Accordingly, based upon the Appellate Panel's findings, Appellant's actual physical restrictions, as derived from the FCE and adopted by the Appellate Panel, are substantially more vocationally limiting than those imposed by his physicians prior to

administration of the FCE, which did not take place until December 16, 2020 (R. p. 207). Therefore, substantial evidence in the record indicates Appellant can only lift ten pounds above his waist and only twenty pounds at any level.

B. The second step in a disability analysis is to determine what jobs a claimant could compete for in the marketplace, and the substantial evidence in the record supports that Appellant cannot perform the full range of duties for any position with Respondent Employer

Under longstanding precedent, a corporation is bound by the statements of its agent designated pursuant to South Carolina Rule of Civil Procedure 30(b)(6). *See, e.g., Covol Fuels No. 4, LLC v. Pinnacle Min. Co., LLC*, 785 F.3d 104, fn 13 (4th Cir. 2015). (“The organization is permitted to designate a person to testify on its behalf, and the organization is bound by that testimony”). South Carolina Rule of Evidence 801 allows any statement made by a person “authorized by the party to make a statement concerning the subject” to be admitted in spite of a general prohibition against hearsay, and SCRCP 32(a)(2) specifically outlines that “a person designated under Rule 30(b)(6) [. . .] to testify on behalf of a public or private corporation [. . .] which is a party may be used by an adverse party for any purpose.”

Appellant noticed a Rule 30(b)(6) deposition of an employee designated by Respondents. The topics of the deposition were the following:

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