**RECEIVED**

**May 03 2022**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM SOUTH CAROLINA  
WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION

---

Appeal No.: 2022-000090

---

Randall G. Dalton, Employee, .....Appellant,

v.

The Muffin Mam, Inc., Employer, and  
Amerisure Mutual Insurance Company, Inc., Carrier,..... Respondents.

---

**BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS**

---

Helen F. Hiser  
Allison Nussbaum  
John D. Stroud  
MCANGUS GOUDELOCK & COURIE  
735 Johnnie Dodds Blvd., Suite 200 (29464)  
P.O. Box 650007  
Mount Pleasant, South Carolina 29465  
(843) 576-2900  
helen.hiser@mgclaw.com  
allison.nussbaum@mgclaw.com

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

Claimant also relies on *Colvin v. E.I. Du Pont De Nemours Co.*, 227 S.C. 465, 88 S.E.2d 581 (1955); however, the facts of that case are meaningfully distinguishable from this case. There, the claimant had limited education and was unskilled. He had only worked as a manual laborer such that his permanent restrictions of lifting no more than 15 pounds rendered him unemployable as a common laborer, “and he is not qualified by training or experience for any other.” *Id.*

In addition, and contrary to Claimant’s assertions otherwise, his position with Employer at the time of the Single Commissioner hearing is not “nominal employment” or “made work.” Despite Claimant’s attempts to fabricate more limited restrictions than those imposed by his treating physicians, substantial evidence supports the Commission’s conclusion that Claimant is able to perform his job with modifications and his work, even as thus modified, provides significant value to Employer.

Claimant points to Dr. Fuson’s October 12, 2020 note as evidence that his permanent lifting restriction is really 10 pounds, not 30 pounds. However, Dr. Fuson’s note indicates

Claimant was doing much better and was “[h]aving only mild pain and is ready to resume work. Thus he will return with caveat to do no lifting greater than 10 lbs. *Will recheck in 1 month.*” (R. pp. 194-200) (emphasis added). The fact that Dr. Fuson planned to see Claimant again for a recheck in one month indicates that the 10 pound lifting restriction was never intended to be a permanent restriction. Even if that were not the case, Dr. Fuson’s restriction conflicts with that of Dr. Behr and it is the Commission’s role to resolve conflicts in the evidence. *Anderson*, 343 S.C. at 492-93, 541 S.E.2d at 528; *Wynn*, 238 S.C. at 12, 118 S.E.2d at 818.

Claimant also points to the FCE in his argument that he cannot even lift 30 pounds. However, while the FCE notes that “Client attempted to lift 25 lbs, but was unable to lift to waist height,” it also explains that “[h]is R. knee buckled during lift.” (R. p. 214). Thus, the buckling of Claimant’s right knee, which is not a compensable body part, is what limited his lifting, not either of his compensable injuries. Further, although the Commission expressed its opinion that the FCE was “reliable and an accurate *representation* of Claimant’s permanent restrictions,” (Finding of Fact No. 7, R. p. 25) (emphasis added), as noted above, the Commission did not adopt those as Claimant’s permanent restrictions over the restrictions imposed by his treating physicians. Regardless, the Commission’s conclusions regarding Claimant’s ability to perform his job in a way that is of value to Employer is uncontroverted by any evidence in the record. (R. p. 531, lines 3-17; R. p. 236, 237). The only reasonable conclusion that can be drawn from this evidence is that Claimant’s position with Employer is not “nominal” or “sheltered” employment, nor is it “made work.”

Furthermore, there is no evidence that Claimant’s lifting restriction of no more than 10 pounds overhead affects his job in any significant manner. While Mr. Williams testified that he would not hire someone who could not lift his hands over his head at all, he also explained that

“[t]here is really nothing here where he has to lift anything other than his hands over his head.” (R. p. 396, lines 1-24). Mr. Williams also agreed that he would hire someone who “was fully able to lift their hands above their head,” even where “[t]heir restriction was just they could not lift more than 10 pounds above their head.” (R. p. 398, line 13 – p. 399, line 3).

C. Claimant’s purported two-part analysis is not the law in South Carolina.

Claimant proposes a two-step analysis that he insists must be applied to determine whether he is permanently and totally disabled, to the exclusion of all other evidence to the contrary. Under Claimant’s proposed analysis, the Commission is to look at an injured worker’s permanent restrictions and then determine what jobs he or she could be hired to perform, without any regard for the fact that the worker continues to work for his employer in a skilled and highly valued position. (App. Br. pp. 10-15). Not surprisingly, he can point to no South Carolina case adopting or applying his two-part test.

Furthermore, Claimant’s argument that there is no evidence that he could compete for any other job because Employer responded to his document subpoena for the Rule 30(b)(6) deposition with only two documents is, at best, highly misleading. His litigation-style tactic of asking Employer to produce documents reflecting job opportunities “in the State of South Carolina” that are open to applicants with Claimant’s specific lifting requirements is nothing more than an attempt to play “gotcha.” It should be surprising to no one that Employer did not have any documents responsive to Claimant’s highly case-specific questions.

Claimant then cites isolated responses from both Ms. Jermon and Mr. Williams in an attempt to distort their actual answers. Claimant suggests that, as Employer’s Rule 30(b)(6) witness, Ms. Jermon’s inability to answer the question of whether Employer would hire someone as a maintenance technician with Claimant’s current restrictions is proof that he would be

unemployable. Her testimony is proof of no such thing. Although Ms. Jermon stated that she was not sure she could answer that question, as she is not in the maintenance department, she testified, “I don’t believe that there’s ever been any real issue. I don’t know that I can answer that question as far as if he had just walked off the street. But with his qualifications that he’s had for a long time, I think he probably would have been hired .... He’s been able to handle pretty much anything that’s needed to be done.” (R. p. 369, lines 3-24). Ms. Jermon referred Claimant’s counsel to Claimant’s current supervisor, Mr. Williams, who “could probably answer those same questions.” (R. p. 370, lines 17-19).

Claimant then misleadingly quotes only part of Mr. Williams’ response to the question of whether he would hire someone off the street “who had a restriction of never exerting more than 30 pounds of force.” Mr. Williams first responded, “[p]robably not,” but then went on to explain, “[i]f he couldn’t do that with both arms, yea. Now, I wouldn’t disqualify a guy with one arm as long as he could do what he needed to do.” (R. p. 396, line 25 – p. 397, line 11). In other words, so long as a worker could exert 30 pounds of force, whether with one arm or using both arms, he would be hired. Moreover, as noted above, although Mr. Williams testified that he would not hire a maintenance technician who could not lift their hands over their head, he would hire someone with a 10 pound overhead lifting restriction. (R. p. 398, line 13 – p. 399, line 3). Thus, neither Ms. Jermon nor Mr. Williams testified that Claimant’s restrictions “would prohibit [his] employment,” as is suggested by Claimant. (App. Br. p. 14). In short, the only way Claimant can conclude that “the record literally does not contain a piece of relevant evidence that could be reasonably construed to conclude that [Claimant] retains the capacity to hold employment with Respondent Employer,” (App. Br. p. 15), is by narrowly focusing on isolated extracts of testimony and evidence, and misconstruing or ignoring any evidence that is not

favorable to his theory of the case. That is the very opposite of substantial evidence. *E.g.*, *Pierre*, 386 S.C. at 540, 689 S.E.2d at 618 (substantial evidence is not a mere scintilla of evidence, nor the evidence viewed blindly from one side of the case, but is evidence which, considering the record as a whole, would allow reasonable minds to reach the same conclusion the administrative agency reached in order to justify its action).

D. Claimant’s assertion that expert vocational evidence is required in every case to determine whether an injured worker is permanently and totally disabled is incorrect and unsupported by any authority.

Claimant incorrectly asserts that this Court’s opinion in *Clark v. Phillips Electronics/Shakespeare*, 433 S.C. 186, 857 S.E.2d 378 (Ct. App. 2021), requires the submission of an expert vocational report in order to prove an injured worker is not permanently and totally disabled.<sup>10</sup> *Clark* holds no such thing. Instead, in *Clark*, the Commission concluded as a matter of law that the claimant was not permanently and totally disabled, which conclusion was not supported by any findings of fact. Thus, it was that “finding—which appears in the ‘Conclusions of Law’ section—[that] floats on air, unsupported by any visible explanation or evidence.” 433 S.C. at 194, 857 S.E.2d at 382. Here, in contrast, the Commission explained in its findings of fact why it concluded as a matter of law that Claimant failed to prove he was permanently and totally disabled. The factual findings that support the Commission’s legal conclusion that Claimant failed to meet his burden of proving permanent and total disability under S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-10 include the finding that, “[b]y all accounts, including his own testimony, Claimant is a valued employee. Claimant is the only person who understands and knows the old equipment, and nobody else can do his job at Muffin Mam. Claimant was transferred from a

---

<sup>10</sup> Essentially, Claimant’s position appears to be that he has met his burden of proving he is permanently and totally disabled, regardless of compelling evidence otherwise, so long as he produces a report by a vocational expert. That is not the law in South Carolina.

former location to the new location in Laurens, South Carolina. Claimant has major lifetime restrictions of no lifting more than 10 pounds overhead, yet the employer has accommodated these restrictions over the past 3 years.” (Finding of Fact No. 2, R. p. 24). Consequently, the Commission did “not find sheltered environment employment,” or that “Claimant is permanently and totally disabled. Claimant is making more money now than before [the] accident.” (Finding of Fact No. 3, R. p. 24). In addition, the Commission found Claimant’s vocational expert’s report stated “that an excellent rehabilitation outcome has been achieved in that Mr. Dalton is continuing to work with his same employer of about seventeen years in a modified position where he is performing legitimate work of value to his employer. Although he is not performing the full range of his prior work, Mr. Dalton is able to make use of his experience to direct, supervise, and train others, and intermittently perform work beyond the range of light, and has remained consistently employed, with his employer advancing him from an hourly to a salaried status and making him a supervisor.” (Finding of Fact No. 4, R. p. 24). The Commission also found that Claimant was “making more money now than before the accident,” and was “now paid a salary of \$72,000 a year,” (Finding of Fact Nos. 1 & 3, R. p. 24); however, those were not the only bases for its determination that Claimant is not permanently and totally disabled, as Claimant wrongly argues.

While Claimant is correct that the only vocational expert report in the record is the one produced by Mr. Brown, the Commission clearly took Mr. Brown’s report into account in concluding that Claimant was not permanently and totally disabled.<sup>11</sup> While it is true that Mr. Brown’s expert opinion provides some support for both the Commission Decision as well as Claimant’s position, as noted above, where there is a conflict in the evidence, either by different

---

<sup>11</sup> Having addressed Mr. Brown’s report, the Commission was not required to explain or account for every statement or opinion in that report, as Claimant suggests. (App. Br. pp. 15-16).

witnesses or the testimony of the same witness, the factual findings of the Commission are conclusive. *Anderson*, 343 S.C. at 492-93, 541 S.E.2d at 528; *Wynn*, 238 S.C. at 12, 118 S.E.2d at 818. In short, the fact that Claimant submitted a vocational expert report and Employer did not does not mean somehow that he automatically met his burden of proof. This is particularly true where, as is the case here, the vocational report provides support for both sides' positions.

Claimant again misconstrues the evidence of his "vocational value" asserting it is "entirely based on his tenure with this specific employer working on a specific configuration of equipment." (App. Br. p. 16). As noted above, Claimant works 9-hour shifts, performing both supervisory tasks and routine maintenance, as well as welding/fabrication. (R. p. 366, lines 3-16; p. 394, lines 6-22; p. 397, lines 20-24). Claimant testified that he "bring[s] a lot of value" to Employer and "contribute[s] to the work." (R. p. 531, lines 7-17). Mr. Brown agreed that Claimant "is performing legitimate work of value to his employer," (R. p. 236), and that he was "performing valuable work for his employer." (R. p. 237).

In sum, the Commission's determination that Claimant failed to meet his burden of proving permanent and total disability under S.C. Code Ann. § 42-9-10 is supported by substantial evidence and is consistent with precedent. As such, this Court should affirm the Commission Decision.

**II. Claimant is not entitled to either permanent and total disability or an increased disability award under S.C. Code § 42-9-30(21).**

Claimant's argument that the evidence in this case requires a greater disability than found by the Commission fails for a number of reasons. At the outset, this argument is comprised of a single paragraph and contains no citation to authority beyond Section 42-9-30(21). As such, it should be deemed abandoned on appeal. A cursory and unsupported argument is deemed

abandoned on appeal. *In the Matter of the Care and Treatment of McCracken*, 346 S.C. 87, 92, 551 S.E.2d 235, 238 (2001).

Even if this Court considers Claimant's argument addressing the partial disability award to his back, however, it lacks merit. Despite the fact that the medical model of compensation as applied under Section 42-9-30 is based on physical impairment as opposed to vocational limitations, Claimant simply argues that "in light of the substantial evidence of severe vocational limitation the disability to [his] spine exceeds 50%, and therefore [he] should be found totally disabled under" Section 42-9-30(21).<sup>12</sup> Section 42-9-30 speaks in terms of loss of use, and the evidence in this case fully supports the Commission's award of 25% to Claimant's back.

First, Dr. Behr assigned impairment ratings of only 4% to the cervical spine and 8% to the lumbar spine. (R. p. 180). And, while Claimant also was assigned a permanent 30 pound lifting restriction to waist level, Claimant testified that he works full, nine-hour shifts and physically was able to perform many of his prior maintenance tech tasks. (R. p. 490, lines 5-17; p. 502, lines 19-24; p. 518, lines 9-22). Mr. Williams confirmed that Claimant "performs his functions just as well as anyone else here," (R. p. 395, lines 7-17), and that he "is ... required physically to do all of the same duties that a regular maintenance tech would do." (R. p. 394, lines 14-17). In addition, Claimant testified that he could mow his lawn if he chose to do so. (R.

---

<sup>12</sup> Claimant limited his argument regarding the disability rating to his spine. Therefore, he is precluded from arguing in reply that the rating assigned to his shoulder also is incorrect. *Simmons v. SC Strong*, 402 S.C. 166, 173 n.2, 739 S.E.2d 631, 634 n.2 (Ct. App. 2013) (argument not preserved for appellate review where it was raised for the first time in a reply brief); *Lister v. NationsBank of Delaware, N.A.*, 329 S.C. 133, 494 S.E.2d 449 (Ct. App. 1997) ("an appellant may not use the reply brief to argue issues not argued in the appellant's initial brief").

p. 539, lines 1-25).<sup>13</sup> He also “vacuum[s] a little bit” although his wife does most of the housework. (R. p. 540, lines 6-9). The only non-work activity Claimant testified he could no longer perform was that he could not throw a baseball now. (R. p. 507, line 23 – p. 508, line 3). This evidence is insufficient to support, let alone *require* any increase of the 25% disability award to either the shoulder or the back, or to demonstrate a total loss of use of the back.

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